

# United Nations Environment Programme



UNEP(DEC)/MED WG.231/21 4 April 2003

ENGLISH



**MEDITERRANEAN ACTION PLAN** 

Meeting of the MED POL National Coordinators

Sangemini, Italy, 27 - 30 May 2003

GUIDELINES

# DUMPING OF PLATFORMS AND OTHER MAN-MADE STRUCTURES AT SEA

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### Page No.

# INTRODUCTION

1.Preface	1
2. Background	1
3. Requirements of the dumping Protocol.	1

## PART A

RECOMMENDATION	2
DEFINITIONS	2
PROGRAMS AND MEASURES	3
ENTRY INTO FORCE	4

# PART B

# 1. FRAMEWORK FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF PROPOSALS FOR THE DISPOSAL AT SEA OF DISUSED OFFSHORE INSTALLATIONS.

1.1. General Provisions.	5
1.2. Assessment of the characteristics and composition of materials to	5
be disposed at sea.	
1.2.1. Physical characterization	5
1.2.2. Chemical characterization.	6
1.2.3. Biological characterization.	6
1.3. Matters to be taken into account in assessing disposal options.	7
1.4. Disposal at sea.	8
1.4.1. Waste management options	8
1.4.2. Assessment of management disposal plans.	8
1.5. Selection of the dumping site.	8
1.5.1. Assessment of the disposal site.	9
1.5.2. Assessment of the site in the event of disposal in situ.	9
1.6. Evaluation of the potential impacts of the disposal at sea of	9
offshore installations.	
1.7. Overall assessments.	10

# 2. REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AUTHORIZATION OF THE DUMPING AT SEA OF OFFSHORE INSTALLATIONS

2.1. Requirements for a permit application.	10
2.2. Criteria for the evaluation of a permit application.	10
2.3. Conditions for issuing a permit.	12
2.4. Consultation procedure.	12

## PART C

#### MONITORING OPERATIONS FOR THE DISPOSAL AT SEA OF OFFSHORE PLATFORMS AND OTHER MAN-MADE STRUCTURES

1.	Definition.	15
2.	Objectives.	15
3.	Impact hypothesis.	15
4.	Monitoring.	16

ANNEX 1 Options to be considered for the decommissioning of disused offshore installations.

ANNEX 2 Pollution prevention in disused offshore installations disposal.

#### INTRODUCTION.

#### 1.- Preface.

These guidelines are intended to assist the Contracting Parties to the Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment and the Coastal Region of the Mediterranean (Barcelona Convention) in the implementation of the Protocol for the Prevention and Elimination of Pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by Dumping from Ships and Aircraft or Incineration at Sea (the Dumping Protocol), hereinafter referred to as "the Protocol", with regard to the dumping of disused installations into the Mediterranean Sea.

The Protocol was adopted on 16 February 1976 by the Conference of Plenipotentiaries of the Coastal States of the Mediterranean Region for the Protection of the Mediterranean Sea. The Protocol was amended and signed by 16 Contracting Parties on 10 June 1995.

These guidelines are intended for use by national authorities in evaluating applications for the dumping of disused offshore installations to prevent pollution in the Mediterranean Sea.

#### 2.- Background.

It is recognized that the disposal of disused offshore installations at sea may have an adverse impact on human safety, health and the ecological and aesthetic value of the marine environment. For this reason, the Contracting Parties are urged to take all practicable measures to encourage the reuse, recycling or final disposal on land for the decommissioning of disused offshore installations in the Mediterranean.

These Guidelines consist of three parts. Part 'A' deals with the Recommendation to the Contracting Parties. These, Recommendation should be followed to ensure that the disposal of disused offshore installations at sea is only considered as a special case when technically is not possible the reuse, recycling or final disposal on land. Part 'B' deals with the assessment and management of disposal at sea. Part 'C' provides guidance on the monitoring of marine disposal sites.

#### 3.- Requirements of the dumping protocol.

In accordance with Article 4.1 of the Protocol, the dumping of wastes or other matter from ships and aircraft is prohibited.

Nevertheless, under the terms of Article 4.2(d) of the Protocol, an exception may be made to this principle for the dumping of platforms and other man-made structures, which may be authorized under certain conditions.

Under the terms of Article 5, the dumping of wastes or other matter listed in Article 4.2 requires a prior special permit from the competent national authorities.

Furthermore, in accordance with Article 6.1 of the Protocol, the permit referred to in Article 5 shall be issued only after careful consideration of the factors set forth in the Annex to the Protocol and taking into consideration article 20 of the Offshore Protocol.

Article 6.2 provides that the Contracting Parties shall draw up and adopt criteria, guidelines and procedures for the dumping of wastes or other matter listed in Article 4.2 so as to prevent, abate and eliminate pollution.

## PART A

#### **RECOMMENDATION ON THE DISPOSAL OF DISUSED OFFSHORE INSTALLATIONS.**

**RECALLING** the Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment and the Coastal Region of the Mediterranean (Barcelona Convention) and the Protocol for the Prevention and Elimination of Pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by Dumping from Ships and Aircraft or Incineration at Sea (the Dumping Protocol),

**RECALLING** the relevant provisions of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea,

**RECOGNISING** that an increasing number of offshore installations in the maritime area are approaching the end of their operational life-time,

**AFFIRMING** that the disposal of such installations should be governed by the precautionary principle, which takes account of potential effects on the environment,

**RECOGNISING** that reuse, recycling or final disposal on land will generally be the preferred option for the decommissioning of disused offshore installations in the Convention maritime area,

**ACKNOWLEDGING** that the national legal and administrative systems of the relevant Contracting Parties need to make adequate provision for establishing and satisfying legal liabilities in respect of disused offshore installations,

#### THE CONTRACTING PARTIES TO THE CONVENTION FOR THE PROTECTION OF THE MARINE ENVIRONMENT AND THE COASTAL REGION OF THE MEDITERRANEAN (BARCELONA CONVENTION) RECOMMEND THAT:

#### DEFINITIONS.

1. For the purposes of this Guidelines,

"Offshore installation" means any man-made structure, platform, plant or vessel or parts thereof, whether floating or fixed to the seabed, placed within the Barcelona Convention maritime area for the purpose of offshore activities;

"Offshore activities" means activities carried out in the Barcelona Convention maritime area for the purposes of the exploration, appraisal or exploitation of liquid and gaseous hydrocarbons;

"Disused offshore installation" means an offshore installation, which is neither:

- a. serving the purpose of offshore activities for which it was originally placed within the maritime area, nor
- b. serving another legitimate purpose in the maritime area authorized or regulated by the competent authority of the relevant Contracting Party;

but does not include:

- c. any part of an offshore installation which is located below the surface of the sea-bed excluding **pipelines**, or
- d. any concrete anchor-base associated with a floating installation which does not, and is not likely to, result in interference with other legitimate uses of the sea;

"Concrete installation" means a disused offshore installation constructed wholly or mainly of concrete;

"Relevant Contracting Party" means the Contracting Party, which has jurisdiction over the offshore installation in question;

"Steel installation" means a disused offshore installation, which is constructed wholly or mainly of steel;

"Topsides" means those parts of an entire offshore installation which are not part of the substructure and includes modular support frames and decks where their removal would not endanger the structural stability of the substructure;

"Steel jacket" means those part of the substructure of an offshore installation which gives most of the structural stability and it is constructed wholly or mainly of steel;

"MAP" means Mediterranean Action Plan.

#### PROGRAMS AND MEASURES.

2. The dumping, and the leaving wholly or partly in place, of disused offshore installations within the maritime area is prohibited.

3. By way of derogation from paragraph 2, if the competent authority of the relevant Contracting Party is satisfied that an assessment in accordance with Part B of these Guidelines shows that there are significant reasons why an alternative disposal mentioned below is preferable to reuse or recycling or final disposal on land, it may issue a permit for:

- a. all or part of the steel jacket of a disused offshore steel installation weighing more than ten thousand tonnes in air; in accordance with the options listed in Annex 1, placed in the maritime area;
- b. a concrete floating or fixed installation or constituting a concrete anchor base, to be dumped or left wholly or partly in place as established in Annex 2;
- c. any other disused offshore installation to be dumped or left wholly or partly in place, when exceptional and unforeseen circumstances resulting from structural damage or deterioration, or from some other cause presenting equivalent difficulties, can be demonstrated.

4. Before a decision is taken to issue a permit under paragraph 3, the relevant Contracting Party should first consult the other Contracting Parties in accordance with the Consultation Procedure established in Part B of these Guidelines.

5. Any permit for a disused offshore installation to be dumped or permanently left wholly or partly in place should accord with the requirements of Part B of these Guidelines.

6. Contracting Parties should report to MAP by {date to be established} and every 2 years thereafter, relevant information on the offshore installations within their jurisdiction including, when appropriate, information on their disposal for inclusion in the inventory to be maintained by MAP.

7. Contracting Parties should give a permit for the decommissioning of disused pipelines in accordance with article 20 of the Offshore Protocol.

## ENTRY INTO FORCE.

8. This Recommendation enters into force the date the protocol will enter into force.

# <u>PART B</u>

## 1.- FRAMEWORK FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF PROPOSALS FOR THE DISPOSAL AT SEA OF DISUSED OFFSHORE INSTALLATIONS

#### 1.1.- General Provisions.

This framework applies to the assessment by the competent authority of the relevant Contracting Party of proposals for the issue of a permit under paragraph 3 of Part A of these Guidelines.

The assessment should consider the potential impacts of the proposed disposal of the installation on the environment and on other legitimate uses of the sea. The assessment should also consider the practical availability of reuse, recycling and disposal options for the decommissioning of the installation.

The assessment of the proposal for disposal at sea of a disused offshore installation should follow the broad approach set out below.

The assessment should cover not only the proposed disposal, but also the practical availability and potential impacts of other options. The options to be considered should include:

- a. re-use of all or part of the installation;
- b. recycling of all or part of the installation;
- c. final disposal on land of all or part of the installation;
- d. other options for disposal at sea.

# <u>1.2.- Assessment of the characteristics and composition of materials to be disposed at</u> <u>sea.</u>

The identification, description and characterization of potential sources of pollution is an essential prerequisite for any decision on whether a permit may be issued for the disposal at sea of an offshore installation. If a waste material is so poorly characterized that a proper assessment cannot be made of its potential impact on the environment, then that waste should not be dumped at sea and a permit should not be issued.

The characteristics of a waste or a mixture of waste materials from multiple sources should be evaluated in terms of their physical, chemical and biological properties. Different wastes require different considerations depending on the environmental transport, lifetime and fate of their components in the sea.

#### 1.2.1.- Physical characterization.

The following physical properties of waste matter should be evaluated prior to dumping/disposal:

- the physical state of the waste as a solid, solid in suspension, sludge or liquid;
- the amount of the waste;
- the dimensions of the solid waste;
- the miscibility of the waste in water;

- the density or specific gravity of bulk materials and their ability to float or sink to the sea bottom;
- the rate of the physical deterioration of the waste in water;
- physical changes to the waste after release, including the possible formation of new compounds; and
- the characteristics of the waste in relation to:
  - its potential for re-floating and agglomeration as a result of surface water convergence;
  - its potential interference with fishing gear, shipping activities and amenities;
  - its potential impact in altering seabed sediments, grain sizes and consistency, resulting in adverse ecological effects on marine life; and the possibility of it washing up on beaches.

#### 1.2.2.- Chemical characterization.

It is necessary to determine the chemical properties of a waste in order to assess its potential effects on water quality and on biota. Knowledge of the raw materials and production processes helps in identifying the probable composition of the waste.

The following chemical properties of waste matters should be evaluated prior to dumping/disposal:

- the chemical state of waste substances (inorganic-ionic, organic-complex, etc.);
- the chemical composition of the waste;
- the concentration of the waste;
- the acidity/alkalinity of the waste (pH);
- the chemical oxygen demand (COD) of the waste;
- the valence state of heavy metals in the waste;
- the flocculative and dispersive behavior of the waste in water;
- the degree of adsorption of the waste in seabed sediments;
- the solubilisation and/or mobilization of the waste in the seawater environment; and
- the rate of decomposition and formation of new alien compounds or other constituents in water.

#### 1.2.3.- Biological characterization.

Wastes can have a biological impact in two ways. They may add biological material, and especially micro-organisms, or they may modify the physical and chemical environment, thereby affecting existing flora and fauna.

The following biological properties of waste matter should be evaluated prior to dumping/disposal:

- chronic and acute toxicity of the waste for marine organisms;
- the biological oxygen demand (BOD) of the waste;
- the bioavailability of the substances contained in the waste;
- the bioaccumulation and rate of uptake of the substances contained in the waste;
- the persistence of the substances contained in the waste;
- the biodegradability of the substances contained in the waste;
- the biotransformation of the substances contained in the waste;
- the probability of the production of taints or other changes to marine biota; and

• the probability of the development of fish discoloration and bacterial and viral fish diseases.

### 1.3.- Matters to be taken into account in assessing disposal options.

The information collated in the assessment shall be sufficiently comprehensive to enable a reasoned judgment on the practicability of each of the disposal options, and to allow for an authoritative comparative evaluation. In particular, the assessment shall demonstrate how the requirements of paragraph 3 of Part A of these Guidelines are met.

The assessment of the disposal options should take into account, but need not be restricted to:

- a. technical and engineering aspects of the option, including re-use and recycling and the impacts associated with cleaning, or removing chemicals from, the installation while it is offshore;
- b. the timing of the decommissioning;
- c. safety considerations associated with removal and disposal, taking into account methods for assessing health and safety at work;
- d. impacts on the marine environment, including exposure of biota to contaminants associated with the installation, other biological impacts arising from physical effects, conflicts with the conservation of species, with the protection of their habitats, or with mariculture, and interference with other legitimate uses of the sea;
- e. impacts on other environmental compartments, including emissions to the atmosphere, leaching to groundwater, discharges to surface fresh water and effects on the soil;
- f. consumption of natural resources and energy associated with re-use or recycling;
- g. other consequences to the physical environment which may be expected to result from the options;
- h. impacts on amenities, the activities of communities and on future uses of the environment; and
- i. economic aspects.

In assessing the energy and raw material consumption, as well as any discharges or emissions to the environmental compartments (air, land or water), from the decommissioning process through to the re-use, recycling or final disposal of the installation, the techniques developed for environmental life cycle assessment may be useful and, if so, should be applied. In doing so, internationally agreed principles for environmental life cycle assessments should be followed.

The assessment shall take into account the inherent uncertainties associated with each option, and shall be based upon conservative assumptions about potential impacts. Cumulative effects from the disposal of installations in the maritime area and existing stresses on the marine environment arising from other human activities shall also be taken into account.

The assessment shall also consider what management measures might be required to prevent or mitigate adverse consequences of the disposal at sea, and shall indicate the scope and scale of any monitoring that would be required after the disposal at sea.

## 1.4.- Disposal at sea.

In selecting the BEP for the disposal of disused offshore installations, the following range of management options should be considered as a minimum:

- planning, including engineering/safety, economic and environmental analyses;
- the removal of all or part of the disused offshore installation from the site;
- the re-use, recycling or disposal on land of parts which are removed from the site;
- the cleaning, where necessary, of parts which are not removed; and
- site clearance/shutdown operations, where appropriate.

### 1.4.1.- Waste management options.

The disposal options examined should include information on the characteristics of the installation and the conditions at the proposed dumping site. The economic and technical feasibility of the options under consideration should be specified and their potential effects on human health, living resources, amenities, other legitimate uses of the sea and the environment in general should be evaluated. The key aspects of the various management options identified for the decommissioning of disused offshore installations are presented in Annex 1.

The timing of decommissioning and disposal operations should be determined by the financial and strategic considerations of the individual operators of each installation.

Taking into consideration to the greatest extent possible the safety of workers, offshore installations should be cleaned of petroleum hydrocarbons and of other substances which are likely to harm the marine environment. Any other materials which may create floating debris should also be removed.

### 1.4.2.- Assessment of management disposal plans.

The assessment of disposal options for offshore installations should be based on the underlying premise that any adverse impacts on the environment are to be minimized through the implementation of the pollution prevention plan and best environmental practice. The purpose of the pollution prevention plan is specifically to ensure that wastes and other substances which contribute to the pollution of the marine environment are removed to the maximum extent possible.

Contaminants should be removed from offshore installations prior to their disposal at sea and limitations on contaminating substances should be met through the implementation of the pollution prevention plan and best environmental practice. The vicinity of the offshore installation be cleared of debris that may interfere with other legitimate uses of the sea.

### 1.5.- Selection of the dumping site.

Matters relating to the criteria for the selection of the dumping site are addressed in greater detail in studies prepared by GESAMP (Reports and Studies No. 16: Scientific criteria for the selection of waste disposal sites at sea, IMO 1982).

### 1.5.1.- Assessment of the disposal site.

The criteria for selecting a new site for dumping operations should be determined so as to minimize interference with the environment and with other current and potential users of the sea. Basic information on the site under consideration should include the coordinates (latitude and longitude) of the disposal site, as well as its location with regard to:

- the nearest coastline
- recreational areas
- sport and commercial fishing areas
- areas of natural beauty or significant cultural or historical importance
- shipping lanes
- military exclusion zones
- engineering uses of the seabed (e.g. potential or ongoing seabed mining, undersea cables, desalination or energy conversion sites).

Finally, site selection criteria should include the physical, sedimentological and biological characteristics of the seabed and surrounding area in which the site is to be located.

#### 1.5.2.- Assessment of the site in the event of disposal in situ.

The basic characteristics of the site of the offshore installations have to be reassessed in the event of its use as a disposal site.

Consideration should also be given to any effects, which may be caused by an increase in certain constituents of the waste or by their interaction (e.g. synergistic effects) with other substances introduced previously into the area.

The risk needs to be examined of the material shifting from its position at the disposal site at some future time. The risk of the breakdown of the structure also needs to be assessed.

Any relevant information from baseline and monitoring studies at already established disposal sites should be taken into account.

### 1.6.-Evaluation of the potential impacts of the disposal at sea of offshore installations.

Any adverse environmental impacts of the disposal at sea of disused offshore installations should be minimized through the implementation of the pollution prevention plan and best environmental practices. Such adverse effects should in any case be limited to the following:

- the disposal site of the disused offshore installation.
- the coastal and estuarine area of the Mediterranean Sea;
- onshore facilities for receiving and dismantling structures;
- recycling facilities; and,
- waste disposal facilities and sites.

Significant impacts at the disposal site of disused offshore installations disposed at sea may include:

- physical and chemical perturbation of seabed sediments;
- physical and chemical perturbation of the water column;
- short and long-term effects on pelagic and benthic invertebrates;

- short and long-term effects on fish and fisheries; and
- short and long-term effects on users of the sea.

When assessing the impact of disposal operations, it may be necessary to compare the physical and, where appropriate, the chemical or biological quality of the affected area with reference to sites located away from the disposal site. Experience of the selection of reference sites for biological and physical monitoring can be acquired from monitoring programs carried out in the vicinity of offshore platforms. Such areas can be identified during the early stages of impact assessment.

Interference with the migration or spawning of fish or crustaceans, or with seasonal fishery activities, may be avoided by the imposition of timing restrictions on disposal operations.

#### 1.7.- Overall assessment.

The assessment shall be sufficient to enable the competent authority of the relevant Contracting Party to draw reasoned conclusions on whether or not to issue a permit under paragraph 3 of Part A of these Guidelines and, if such a permit is thought justified, on what conditions to attach to it. These conclusions shall be recorded in a summary of the assessment which shall also contain a concise summary of the facts which underpin the conclusions, including a description of any significant expected or potential impacts from the disposal at sea of the installation on the marine environment or its uses. The conclusions shall be based on scientific principles and the summary shall enable the conclusions to be linked back to the supporting evidence and arguments. Documentation shall identify the origins of the data used, together with any relevant information on the quality assurance of that data.

# 2.- REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AUTHORIZATION OF THE DUMPING AT SEA OF OFFSHORE INSTALLATIONS.

The Protocol establishes the permitting requirements for the sea disposal operations of a single disused offshore installation.

#### 2.1.- Requirements for a permit application.

Any application for a permit has to contain data and information specifying:

- The types, amounts and sources of the materials to be dumped;
- The location of the dumping site(s);
- History of previous dumping operations and/or past activities with negative environmental impacts;
- The method of dumping; and
- The proposed monitoring and reporting arrangements.

### 2.2.- Criteria for the evaluation of a permit application.

Article 6.1 of the Protocol states that a permit shall be issued only after careful consideration of the factors set forth in the Annexes to the Protocol, article 20 of the Offshore Protocol or the criteria, guidelines and procedures adopted by the Contracting Parties. The criteria for

the evaluation of a permit application, which should be applied on a case-by-case basis, include:

- reference data linked to particular methods of disposal or disposal sites, such as data on seabed conditions, quantities and position of discharged cuttings and concentrations of oil in sediments;
- the residual quantities of removed substances (cleaning efficiency) after completion of the cleaning of the installation to be disposed at sea; and,
- a comparison of the incremental impact of the disposal of a component in or around the stump of an installation as compared with the impact of its disposal at an alternative site.

Before considering the dumping of disused offshore installations, or parts thereof, at sea, every effort should be made to determine the practical availability of alternative land-based methods of treatment, disposal or elimination, as well as treatment to render the installation less harmful for dumping at sea, taking into consideration article 20 of the Offshore Protocol.

In special cases where it is decided the dumping of disused offshore installations, or parts thereof, at sea, this should be regarded as an exception. The practical availability of other means of disposal should be considered in the light of a comparative assessment of:

- their potential impact on the environment, including:
  - their effects on marine habitats and communities, and other legitimate uses of the sea;
  - the effect of their on-shore re-use, recycling, or disposal, including potential impacts on land, surface and groundwater and air pollution; and
  - the impact of the use of the necessary energy and materials (including an overall assessment of the use of energy and materials and the savings achieved through re-use, recycling or disposal options), including transportation and the resultant environmental impact.
- their potential impact on human health, including:
  - the identification of routes of exposure and the analysis of potential impacts on sea and land re-use, as well as of recycling and disposal options, including the potential secondary impacts of energy use; and
  - the quantification and evaluation of the safety risks associated with disposal at sea, compared with onshore re-use, recycling and disposal,
  - the evaluation of engineering capacities for specific types, sizes and weights of disused offshore installations; and
  - the identification of the practical limitations of disposal alternatives, taking into account the characteristics of the installation and oceanographic considerations.
- economic considerations, including:
  - an analysis of the full cost and savings of installation re-use, recycling or disposal alternatives; and
  - a review of costs in relation to benefits in such areas as resource conservation and the economic benefits of steel recycling.

Where the comparative assessment reveals that adequate information is not available to determine the likely effects of the proposed disposal option, including the potential long-term harmful consequences, then the precautionary principle should be applied. In addition, where analysis of the comparative assessment shows that the dumping option is less preferable than a land alternative, a permit should not be issued for the dumping.

Each assessment should conclude with a statement in support of a decision to either issue or refuse a permit for dumping.

Opportunities should be provided for public review and participation in the permit evaluation process.

### 2.3.- Conditions for issuing a permit.

1. Every permit issued in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part A of these Guidelines shall specify the terms and conditions under which the disposal at sea may take place, and shall provide a framework for assessing and ensuring compliance.

- 2. In particular, every permit should:
  - a. specify the procedures to be adopted for the disposal of the installation;
  - b. require independent verification that the condition of the installation before the disposal operation starts is consistent both with the terms of the permit and with the information upon which the assessment of the proposed disposal was based;
  - c. specify any management measures that are required to prevent or mitigate adverse consequences of the disposal at sea;
  - d. require arrangements to be made, in accordance with any relevant international guidance, for indicating the presence of the installation on nautical charts, for advising mariners and appropriate hydrographic services of the change in the status of the installation, for marking the installation with any necessary aids to navigation and fisheries and for the maintenance of any such aids;
  - e. require arrangements to be made for any necessary monitoring of the condition of the installation, of the outcome of any management measures and of the impact of its disposal on the marine environment and for the publication of the results of such monitoring;
  - f. specify the responsibility for carrying out any management measures and monitoring activities required and for publishing reports on the results of any such monitoring;
  - g. specify the owner of the parts of the installation remaining in the maritime area and the person liable for meeting claims for future damage caused by those parts (if different from the owner) and the arrangements under which such claims can be pursued against the person liable.
- 3. Every report should set out:
  - a. the reasons for the decision to issue a permit under paragraph 3 of Part A of these Guidelines;
  - b. the extent to which the views recorded in the report of the special consultative meeting under paragraph 7 of the Consultation Procedure in Part B of these Guidelines, or expressed by other Contracting Parties during that Consultation Procedure, were accepted by the competent authority of the relevant Contracting Party;
  - c. the permit issued.

### 2.4.- Consultation procedure.

1. A relevant Contracting Party which is considering whether to issue a permit under paragraph 3 of this Guidelines shall start this consultation procedure at least 32 weeks

before any planned date of a decision on that question by sending to MAP a notification containing:

- a. an assessment prepared in accordance including the summary in accordance with Part B of these Guidelines,
- b. an explanation why the relevant Contracting Party considers that the requirements of paragraph 3 of Part A of this Guidelines may be satisfied;
- c. any further information necessary to enable other Contracting Parties to consider the impacts and practical availability of options for re-use, recycling and disposal.
- 2. MAP shall immediately send copies of the notification to all Contracting Parties.

3. If a Contracting Party wishes to object to, or comment on, the issue of the permit, it shall inform the Contracting Party which is considering the issue of the permit not later than the end of 16 weeks from the date on which the MAP circulated the notification to the Contracting Parties, and shall send a copy of the objection or comment to the MAP. Any objection shall explain why the Contracting Party which is objecting considers that the case put forward fails to satisfy the requirements of paragraph 3 of Part A of this Guidelines. That explanation shall be supported by scientific and technical arguments. MAP shall circulate any objection or comment to the other Contracting Parties.

4. Contracting Parties shall seek to resolve by mutual consultations any objections made under the previous paragraph. As soon as possible after such consultations, and in any event not later than the end of 22 weeks from the date on which the MAP circulated the notification to the Contracting Parties, the Contracting Party proposing to issue the permit shall inform the MAP of the outcome of the consultations. The MAP shall forward the information immediately to all other Contracting Parties.

5. If such consultations do not resolve the objection, the Contracting Party which objected may, with the support of at least two other Contracting Parties, request the MAP to arrange a special consultative meeting to discuss the objections raised. Such a request shall be made not later than the end of 24 weeks from the date on which the MAP circulated the notification to the Contracting Parties.

6. MAP shall arrange for such a special consultative meeting to be held within 6 weeks of the request for it, unless the Contracting Party considering the issue of a permit agrees to an extension. The meeting shall be open to all Contracting Parties, the operator of the installation in question and all observers to MAP. The meeting shall focus on the information provided in accordance with Part B of these Guidelines. The chairman of the meeting shall be the MAP Coordinator or a person appointed by MAP Coordinator. Any question about the arrangements for the meeting shall be resolved by the chairman of the meeting.

7. The chairman of the meeting shall prepare a report of the views expressed at the meeting and any conclusions reached. That report shall be sent to all Contracting Parties within two weeks of the meeting.

8. The competent authority of the relevant Contracting Party may take a decision to issue a permit at any time after:

- a. the end of 16 weeks from the date of dispatch of the copies under paragraph 2 of this Consultation Procedure, if there are no objections at the end of that period;
- b. the end of 22 weeks from the date of dispatch of the copies under paragraph 2 of this Consultation Procedure, if any objections have been settled by mutual consultation under paragraph 4;
- c. the end of 24 weeks from the date of dispatch of the copies under paragraph 2 of this Consultation Procedure, if there is no request for a special consultative meeting under paragraph 5;

d. receiving the report of the special consultative meeting from the chairman of that meeting.

9. Before making a decision with regard to any permit under paragraph 3 of Part A of these Guidelines, the competent authority of the relevant Contracting Party shall consider both the views and any conclusions recorded in the report of the special consultative meeting, and any views expressed by Contracting Parties in the course of this procedure.

10. Copies of all the documents which are to be sent to all Contracting Parties in accordance with this procedure shall also be sent to those observers who have made a standing request for this to the MAP/MEDPOL.

## PART C

### MONITORING OPERATIONS FOR THE DISPOSAL AT SEA OF DISUSED OFFSHORE INSTALLATIONS

#### **<u>1.- DEFINITION.</u>**

For the purposes of assessing and regulating the environmental impacts of disposal operations, monitoring is defined as the repeated measurement of an effect, whether direct or indirect, on the marine environment and/or of interferences with other legitimate uses of the sea.

### 2.- OBJECTIVES.

In order to carry out the monitoring program in a resource-effective manner, it is essential for the objectives of the program to be clearly defined. The monitoring observations required at a disposal site tend to fall into two basic categories:

- predisposal investigations designed to assist in the selection of the site or to confirm that the selected site is suitable; and
- post-disposal studies intended to verify that:
  - the permit conditions have been met; this process is referred to as compliance monitoring; and,
  - the assumptions made during the permit issuing and site selection processes were valid and adequate to prevent adverse environmental effects as a consequence of disposal; this process is referred to as field monitoring, with the results of such reviews providing the basis for modifying the criteria for issuing a new permit for future dumping operations at existing and proposed disposal sites.

The ultimate purpose of monitoring is to assess the effects of the disposal activity on the biotic and abiotic environment.

#### **<u>3.- IMPACT HYPOTHESIS.</u>**

The objectives of the monitoring program are dictated by the potential impacts of the disposal operation. The predicted consequences of these effects can be described as an impact hypothesis. This hypothesis is derived from the characteristics of the disused offshore installation to be dumped and the nature of the dumping site. The hypothesis should encompass spatial as well as temporal effects. The impact hypothesis forms the basis of the field-monitoring program.

In order to formulate an impact hypothesis, it may be necessary to conduct a baseline survey or surveys to describe the characteristics of the proposed receiving area and the variability of these characteristics over time. Ideally, initial observations should extend over at least one year so that seasonal variations can be detected. Observations will need to be carried out both in and around the disposal site and it must be accepted that it may prove necessary at any stage to change the position of the site in the light of observations made.

Survey observation results should identify primary areas of potential impact, namely those considered to be the most sensitive. Areas of impact should include alterations to the

physical environment, the devaluation of marine resources and interference with other legitimate uses of the sea.

The predicted consequences of disposal activities are described in terms of effects on recipients (e.g. the nature of spatial and/or temporal change on the habitat, response or degree of interference with biological community use). The prediction of any relevant target/effect combination should be described in sufficient detail to guide field and analytical work in the subsequent monitoring program so that relevant information can be obtained in the most efficient and cost-effective manner.

### 4.- MONITORING.

#### 4.1.- Quality control.

Quality control is defined as the operational techniques and activities that are used to fulfill requirements relating to quality. These include monitoring criteria and standards, sampling methods, sample locations and frequency, and reporting procedures.

Before any monitoring program is developed and implemented, the following quality control issues have to be addressed:

- What testable hypotheses can be derived from the impact hypothesis?
- What exactly should be measured?
- What is the purpose of monitoring a particular variable or physical, chemical or biological effect?
- In what compartment and at which locations can measurements be made most effectively?
- For how long should the measurements be carried out to meet the defined aim?
- With what frequency should measurements be carried out?
- What should be the temporal and spatial scale of the measurements made to test the impact hypothesis?
- How should the data from the monitoring program be managed and interpreted?

# ANNEX 1

### OPTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED FOR THE DECOMMISSIONING OF DISUSED OFFSHORE INSTALLATIONS

# Steel Jacket of disused offshore installations weighing more than ten thousand tones in air.

- 1. Topple in situ in absence of cuttings
- 2. Partially remove and lay beside stump
- 3. Partially remove and deposit in controlled site
- 4. Partially remove and deposit at reef
- 5. Partially remove and deep sea dump
- 6. Partially remove, dismantle and dispose onshore
- 7. Totally remove in absence of cuttings and deposit in controlled site
- 8. Totally remove in absence of cuttings and deposit at reef
- 9. Totally remove in absence of cuttings and deep sea dump
- 10. Totally remove in absence of cuttings, dismantle and dispose onshore
- 11. Totally remove in presence of cuttings and deposit in controlled site
- 12. Totally remove in presence of cuttings, dismantle and dispose onshore

## **Concrete Gravity Base Installations.**

- 1. Leave in situ
- 2. Re-float in absence of cuttings and deep sea dump
- 3. Re-float in absence of cuttings, dismantle inshore, dispose waste onshore

### <u>ANNEX 2</u>

#### POLLUTION PREVENTION IN DISUSED OFFSHORE INSTALLATIONS DISPOSAL.

#### Pollution prevention

In matters relating to the protection of the Mediterranean Sea, it is essential for the Contracting Parties to cooperate with a view to promoting the effective and harmonized implementation of the Protocol for the Prevention and Elimination of Pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by Dumping from Ships and Aircraft or Incineration at Sea.

For this purpose, the Contracting Parties should assist each other in investigating violations of anti-pollution measures that have occurred or are suspected to have occurred within the Mediterranean Sea area. This assistance should include public reports on findings and the lessons learned.

The Contracting Parties should encourage to consider the implementation of the following graduated range of preventive measures:

- the development and application of codes of good environmental practice covering all aspects of activities related to the disposal of platforms/structures;
- mandatory labeling to inform users of environmental risks related to materials intended for disposal;
- the provision of suitable collection and storage media for various types of waste;
- the recycling, recovery and re-use of waste; and
- avoidance of the use of hazardous substances and products and the generation of hazardous wastes.

The Contracting Parties should consider the application to specific activities, products or groups of products of economic incentives and/or penalties to encourage the adoption of appropriate preventive measures and good environmental practices.

Furthermore, the Contracting Parties should consider the incorporation in licensing systems of appropriate preventive restrictions or prohibitions.